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    UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
    FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
         -
___________________________________________ 
                                                                                       
THE CLOUD FOUNDATION, INC.      
a Colorado, non-profit organization       
107 South 7th Street                                          
Colorado Springs, CO                    
and                      
FRONT RANGE EQUINE RESCUE, INC.                           Civil No. __________ 
a Colorado non-profit organization                
P.O. Box 307                                                                              
Larkspur, CO 80118                                                                

v. 

KEN SALAZAR. in his official capacity as Secretary, United States Department of 
Interior., ROBERT ABBEY, in his  
official capacity as Director, Bureau of Land  
Management, JIM SPARKS, in his  
official capacity as Field Manager, BLM,  
Billings Field Office, 
JARED BYBEE, in his 
official capacity as Wild Horse  
and Burro Specialist 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

     Introduction 
                                                               
             
1. On July 17, 2009, BLM issued for a thirty (30) day public comment period a 

Preliminary EA and Draft Gather Plan proposing to remove 70 wild horses from this 

range, the largest removal of wild horses from this range in the last fifteen (15) years.  

This public comment period ended on August 18, 2009.  BLM has not notified plaintiffs 

when it plans to issue its Record of Decision and FONSI for this removal action, 

however, BLM has stated that it will begin the roundup and removal of the horses on 

September 1, 2009.  Based on past practice, BLM may be expected to issue its final 

decision on August 31, 2009 or September 1, 2009 or sooner and begin immediately 
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rounding up horses by helicopter and removing them from the range on those dates. The 

interim, narrow period of time between BLM’s issuance of its final decision and its 

removal of the wild horses from the range, thereby jeopardizes plaintiffs’ opportunity to 

commence an action and seek to restrain defendants.   

2. Because BLM has stated that it will begin these actions on September 1, 2009, and 

because the actions it plans are contrary to law and will result in irreparable injury to 

plaintiffs, plaintiffs will, as soon as is practicable – unless defendants will agree to 

suspend this activity until the matter can be heard on combined preliminary 

injunction/cross motions for summary judgment --  move this Court to order temporary 

injunctive relief against BLM defendants. 

 3.  This action concerns the wild horses that inhabit the Pryor Mountain Wild 

Horse Range (PMWHR) and surrounding primarily federal, public lands.  These horses 

are protected under the Executive Order which established the PMWHR as a range 

primarily for the benefit of the wild horses in 1968 and the Wild Free-Roaming Horses 

and Burros Act (WFHBA), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1331 et seq., which protects them from 

harassment, commercial exploitation and death.  The PMWHR consists of public lands 

administered by the BLM, the USFS and the National Park Service and a small area of 

private land. 

 4.  The ROD, and accompanying documents, neither acknowledged the 

considerable public opposition to BLM’s planned actions against the PMWHR herd, nor 

meaningfully considered  those comments.  This is an action to declare illegal and set 

aside BLM’s planned actions, as set forth in the ROD. 

                                           JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
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 5. This case concerns a federal question and, therefore, jurisdiction is proper 

under 28 U.S.C. §1331.  Venue is also proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).  This Court 

may review defendants actions and order appropriate relief under the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§701 et seq. 

     PLAINTIFFS 

 6. Plaintiff, The Cloud Foundation (TCF), is a Colorado non-profit corporation, 

whose purposes are to protect the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse herd and other wild horse 

herds as wild animals living on the range. Specifically, the Cloud Foundation is dedicated 

to preventing the extinction of the PMWHR herd through education, media events and 

programming and public involvement.  TCF also works to protect other wild horse herds 

on public lands, especially isolated herds with unique characteristics and historical 

significance.  TCF was organized by Ginger Kathrens, its Executive Director.   

 
 7. TCF sues on behalf of its members and supporters to protect their aesthetic 

interests in viewing wild horses free roaming on the Pryor range and surrounding areas in 

a natural setting, free from human interference.  Every year, members and supporters of 

TCF travel to visit the PMWHR to view first-hand the activities of the wild horses there 

and their interactions with other members of the herd. During all seasons of the year, 

members of The Cloud Foundation, interested naturalists, photographers, students and  

wild horse enthusiasts from all over the United States and abroad travel to the Pryor 

Mountains to study the behavior of wild horses and, in the spring, to see which horses 

have survived the winter and which mares have had foals.  The Pryors is the only 

Western U.S. location in which the interaction of mares and foals and the complex 

communication and behaviors of the bands can be viewed without the horses running 
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away.  If the human observers are quiet and keep their distance, the horses carry on their 

daily lives as if the human observers were not present, thereby creating a perfect 

opportunity for viewing the real behavior of America’s native equids.  The Cloud 

Foundation and its members will suffer irreparable harm from the activities BLM will 

undertake 

 8.  Ms. Kathrens is an Emmy award-winning film maker and award-winning 

author who has produced three PBS Specials on Cloud, a wild horse stallion in the 

Pryors, and his band.  Through these films, millions of people in the United States and 

internationally have learned about Cloud and his herd-mates and have followed him from 

birth through adulthood and fatherhood. Ms. Kathrens has visited the Pryors every year 

since 1994.  Since 1994, when she first visited the Pryor Mountains to film two programs 

for Marty Stouffer’s Wild America, she has been an avid observer of the Pryor Mountain 

wild horse herd, visiting the Pryors not only to film the horses and the range for her work, 

but because she has come to know individual members of the herd and has followed their 

life experiences over the course of her many visits to the range.  Over the course of the 

past twelve years, she estimates that she has spent a full year watching, studying, and 

enjoying the wild horses in the Pryors.  From her trips, she has come to know the 

members of the herd as individuals and is familiar with their histories, personalities, 

behaviors, offspring and sires and dams. Ms. Kathrens will suffer irreparable harm from 

BLM’s removal of the wild horses not only because it will mean that fewer wild horses 

will be on the range to view but because Ms. Kathrens appreciates these animals in the 

wild and understands how much their life in the wild and with their family members 

means to them.  Through her study of the genetics of this population, she, and experts 
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who have studied this population know that removal of the number of wild horses BLM 

contemplates will irreversibly threaten the genetic viability of the herd.  

           11.  Front Range Equine Rescue (FRER) is a Colorado non-profit corporation 

established in 1997, which is dedicated to stopping the abuse and neglect of both domestic and wild 

horses. It is FRER’s belief that ignorance is often the main cause for equine abuse rather than 

outright cruelty. A primary goal of FRER is to educate new, potential, and existing horse owners on 

basic horse care topics such as equine nutrition, first aid, farrier care, alternative therapies, and 

natural horsemanship training techniques. In addition, FRER has assisted hundreds of horses, 

including wild horses, and adopted horses from the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range who were 

about to be sent to an auction frequented by killer buyers, through direct rescue and its educational 

programs. While some horses are donated by their owners or are rescued when abandoned, many 

are rescued from livestock auctions to save them from slaughter. Once rescued, FRER then provides 

for the direct care and rehabilitation of these horses in need.  

       12.  FRER represents its supporters’ interests in protecting wild horses on the range 

and those who have been adopted and need to be rescued from improper adoptive homes. 

FRER does this by commenting on BLM actions to remove wild horses from their range 

and urging BLM and other responsible federal agencies to ensure that removals and any 

other federal actions taken with regard to wild horses are based on a legitimate need to 

undertake those actions and that the horses’ safety and welfare will be assured during 

those actions  

 15.  Ms. Kathrens and other supporters of both The Cloud Foundation and Front 

Range Equine Rescue who have witnessed other roundups of wild horses taken off the 

range and the horses’ reactions to the loss of their freedom often have the memories of 

those events return to haunt them.  Ms. Kathrens and other supporters of both The Cloud 

Foundation and Front Range Equine Rescue fear for the wellbeing and safety of the 

horses BLM plans to capture over the next few weeks and months. 
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 16. Defendant BLM’s actions will harm and injure the interests and aesthetic 

enjoyment of plaintiffs in the PMWHR herd, and the members and supporters of 

plaintiffs’ organizations by causing or threatening irreversible adverse effects to the 

PMWHR herd.  

 

    DEFENDANTS 

 

 17.   Ken Salazar is the Secretary of the Department of the Interior. Pursuant to 

the WFHBA, he is responsible for the oversight of BLM’s management of wild horses on 

the Nation’s public lands, including the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, in Montana. 

 18. Robert Abbey is the Director of the Bureau of Land Management and is 

responsible for implementing management decisions for wild horses in accordance with 

the WFHBA. 

 19.  Jim  Sparks is the Field Manager for Billings Field Office and signed the 

Record of Decision challenged herein.   

 20. Jared Bybee is the Wild Horse and Burro Specialist for the PMWHR.  

         FACTS  

  I. The Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Herd and the Pryor Range 

 21.  The Pryor herd now consists of approximately 190 wild horses 1 year old and 

older. The Pryor herd is composed of approximately 32 families of wild horses, otherwise 

known as “bands.”  A band is typically made up of a dominant stallion, one or more 

mares and the young horses born to the stallion and the mares.  In addition, there may be  

“lieutenant,” or junior stallions, who stay with the band or roam together in “bachelor” 
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bands.  Mares typically give birth to foals in the Pryors in the months of May and June, 

however, in the past years, some mares have been foaling in August and September and 

into the latter part of the year. 

 22. The horses now living on the Pryors and those that BLM plans to remove have 

been featured in two PBS specials Cloud: Wild Stallion of the Rockies, which premiered 

in 2001 and Cloud’s Legacy: The Wild Stallion Returns, which premiered in 2002.  The 

horses living on the range and those that are to be removed are featured in an upcoming 

PBS special, Cloud: Challenge of the Stallion, to be aired October 25, 2009.  This herd of 

horses and many of the individual wild horses filmed in these specials are known and 

loved by supporters of the plaintiff organizations and hundreds of thousands of viewers 

world-wide.  

23. The Pryor wild horse herd is Montana’s only remaining herd of wild free-

roaming horses.  Not only are there few of these horses on the range, and in the state, but 

they are of unique and rare ancestry.  According to scientific commentators who have 

studied this range and its equid inhabitants, the PMWHR wild horse population is one of 

a “few populations [that remain] that descend from types and breeds now otherwise rare 

or extinct, mainly the Spanish colonial type . . . The North American Colonial Spanish 

breed type is otherwise very rare globally, and only a small reservoir exists in 

domestication.” (D.Phillip  Sponenberg, DVM, Ph.D., Professor, Pathology and Genetics, 

Virginia-Maryland Regional College of Veterinary Medicine, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, 

VA; BLM Resource Notes No. 25, Date 07/19/2000. 
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24. In response to public outcry over BLM’s plans to remove wild horses from the 

Pryor Mountains and sell the horses for slaughter, in 1968, the Secretary of Interior 

designated the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, an area encompassing approximately 

39,000 acres, as a sanctuary for the protection of the wild horses living there. The 

PMWHR was created by Executive Order on September 9, 1968. The purpose of this 

designation was to “protect the unique population of wild horses of Spanish ancestry and 

protect native wildlife, watershed, recreation, archaeological, and scenic values,”   ____ 

Fed. Reg. ______ (1968).   

25. After the range was designated, then Secretary of the Interior 

Steward Udall appointed a committee of persons knowledgeable about wild 

horses and range conditions to make recommendations concerning 

administration of the Range. A member of the committee, Dr. Wayne Cook of 

Colorado State University, an authority on range management, concluded that 

any degradation of the range  

had actually occurred some 50-100 years earlier due to domestic 
sheep grazing. Dr. Cook determined that “the horses neither caused this 
condition, nor were they greatly aggravating it, except for the network 
of trails they had created in their long treks to water.  If plastic water 
tanks could be put into the region to relieve the horses of the necessity 
of so much traveling in search of water, the trails, he felt, might even 
heal over. . . After ten months of study, . . . the committee’s unanimous 
recommendation was that the public lands. 

Ryden, Hope, America’s Last Wild Horses, 256-261. 

 26. The Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range (PMWHR) includes lands 

administered by the Bureau of Land Management  (hereinafter BLM), National Park 

Service (hereafter NPS), and the U.S. Forest Service [USFS].  The purpose of the 
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designation was to protect the unique population of wild horses of Spanish ancestry.   ” 

(A Demographic Analysis, Group Dynamics, and Genetic Effective Number in the Pryor 

Mountain Wild Horse Population, 1992-1997 By Francis J. Singer, Linda Zeigenfuss, 

Linda Coates-Markle, BLM, Billings, MT (emphasis added), and Rev. Floyd 

Schwieger, Lovell, WY) (“Demographic Analysis). 

 27.  In the Demographic Analysis, it was noted that, “The population [of the wild 

horses on the PMWHR] was much larger prior to 1971 (n=270 horses).” 

           28. The Demographic Analysis also cautioned that,  “Genetic effective number, or 

that portion of the total population (Ne) that actually contributes genetically to the next 

generation, permits an estimate of the losses in genetic variation due to genetic drift.. . 

.During the period from 1970 to 1986…Adult male to female ratios were very low during 

this period, typically 0.5 males:1.0 females, as a result of removals that concentrated 

on bachelor males and other younger animals (emphasis added) (Garrott and Taylor 

1990)  

 29. In 2003, genetic scientists conducted a study and prepared a habitat suitability 

model “to provide a tool that will help managers and other researchers better manage 

(emphasis added) bighorn sheep and wild horses in the Bighorn Canyon National 

Recreation Area and Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range” (Habitat Suitability Model For 

Bighorn Sheep and Wild Horses in Bighorn Canyon and The Pryor Mountain Wild Horse 

Range, October 6, 2003, by Gary Wockner, Francis Singer, Kate Schoenecker).. The 

scientists in this habitat suitability model stated that “minimum goals for genetic viability 

in the Pryor Mountain wild horses (Ne>/=50) require that at least 160 animals be present 

on the range (Singer et al. 2000).  Since the Ne>/=50 goal is set for the breeding of 
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domestic animals, and since the vagaries of drought, severe winters, predation, and other 

stochastic events cause stress in wild animals, larger goals for Ne (e.g. Ne>/=100) [300 

horses] for wild horses have been determined to be even more desirable.” (emphasis 

added). 

 30.  In 2004, the herd suffered the loss of all but one of the foals that were born 

that year due to presumed mountain lion predation. 

 31. Currently there are approximately 190 adult horses one year of age and older 

on the PMWHR. Seven (7) adult horses are missing and presumed dead (although BLM 

still counts these horses as alive and in their total number of horses on the range). [check 

EA for any discussion of mortality.] 

 32.  In a July, 1999 letter, Sandra Brooks, then Field Manager of the Billings 

Field Office, expressed her concern for the genetic viability of the Pryor herd due to their 

being managed at dangerously low numbers.   

 33.  Upon realizing that they have been caught, wild horses have been known to 

jump or attempt to jump the six foot panels of corrals in which they are held and/or throw 

themselves against the panels out of fear or in a desperate attempt to escape the 

restrictions on their movement imposed by the corrals.  Some of these horses run head 

long into the barriers that restrict their escape, break their necks and die.  Others severely 

injure themselves in the process or are shot due to their injuries.  Still other trapped wild 

horses suffer from what is called “capture myopathy,” in which they become depressed 

and despondent over the loss of their freedom or separation from their family members. 
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          34.  The PMWHR is located in southeastern Carbon County Montana and northern 

Big Horn County, Wyoming. The PMWHR encompasses about 39,651 acres.   The 

elevation ranges from about 3850 feet in Wyoming at the south end of the range to about 

8750 feet at the north end of the range in Montana; a vertical rise of 4900 feet in 13 

miles. 

 40.  In 2004, BLM issued to the public, but did not solicit public comments on a 

report of range conditions within the PMWHR which was prepared by the Natural 

Resource Conservation Service (NRCS Report) (Ricketts, 2004).  The study was 

conducted during the driest years of a 100 year drought, i.e. from 2002-2003.  The BLM 

relies on this report in its Record of Decision for a conclusion that an overpopulation of 

wild horses exists on the PMWHR and that _____ wild horses must be removed.  

 42.  In the 2003 Habitat Suitability Model for Bighorn Sheep and Wild Horses in 

Bighorn Canyon and the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, by Wockner, Singer, and 

Schoenecker; the authors recommended that the northwest section of the Custer National 

Forest should be added as summer range. 

43. In support of this action, BLM cites drought conditions, which existed on the 

range up until 3 years ago.  Adequate, and unusually heavy amounts of precipitation have 

occurred during the last 3 years, however, so that the area has not experienced drought 

since 2006. Furthermore, while acknowledging that the PMWHR contains areas with 

differing levels of precipitation and depths of soils, Draft EA at 3, BLM never analyzes 

whether an area normally receiving limited precipitation may normally support limited 

forage without regard to any effects of grazing animals. BLM is aware of previous 

studies addressing this specific point. In “The Influence of Herbivory on Plant Cover and 

Species Composition in the Pryor Mountain Wild Horse Range, USA,” Jace T. Fahnestock 
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and James K. Detling, 1999, state, “Our study indicates that abiotic factors (e.g. precipitation) 

are more likely than grazing to affect abundances of key plant species, and hence ecosystem 

dynamics in the PMWHR, and that the effects of herbivory are more localized and more 

prevalent in the lowland grasses than in the other plant function groups.”   

44. Dr. Gus Cothran, Director of the Equine Blood Typing Research Laboratory 

at the University of Kentucky, has been studying the Pryor Mountain wild horse herd of 

southern Montana since 1991 as well as other wild horse herds on public lands in the 

West.  On July 16, 2009, in response to BLM’s decision to lower the Appropriate 

Management Level (AML)1 for horses on the PMWHR to 95 individuals, Dr. Cothran 

wrote a strongly worded cautionary letter to BLM. He explained,  

 As has been stressed several times, the effective population size 
is generally 1/4th  to 1/3rd of the census population so that a census 
population size of 150 to 200 is required to achieve the minimum 
effective population size.  It is not possible to accurately determine the 
real effective population size of a wild population such as the PMWH 
so estimates such as those above must be used.  It also is important to 
understand that within a closed population, genetic diversity does not 
increase the genetic variation, it only slows the rate of loss of existing 
variation. . . My purpose here is to make sure that it is understood what 
the potential consequences of a reduction in population size are in 
terms of genetic diversity.  

  Dr. Cothran submitted this letter to the Billings Field Office of BLM. 

 

 III. THE BLM  Management Documents Regarding the PMWHR  

 43.    In 1984, BLM issued the Billings Resource Management Plan (BRMP). In 

1984, the BLM, FS and the NPS issued a Herd Management Area Plan for the PMWHR. 

                                                
1 The WFHBA states that BLM shall determine “appropriate management levels” of wild horses on 
particular areas of the range. 16 U.S.C. § 1332 after inventorying and assessing range conditions 
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The 1984 BRMP noted that ““Five water catchments will be required to improve grazing 

distribution by bands of horses.” 1984 Billings RMP at 23. There are only two water 

catchments on the range currently. BLM has failed to make these range improvements to 

improve grazing distribution by the horses for twenty-five years.   

 44.  In 1992, the BLM revised this plan and issued what it determined to be the 

“appropriate management level” for the PMWHR. That number was determined 

internally and based on data regarding range capabilities some 14 years ago to be 95+/-

10% (e.g. 85-105 horses).  At that time, BLM had little knowledge of genetics and the 

need to maintain minimum numbers of breeding individuals to insure herd viability.   

 45.     Seven years later, in a July, 1999 letter, Sandra Brooks, then Field Manager 

of the Billings Field Office, expressed her concern for the genetic viability of the Pryor 

herd due to their being managed at dangerously low numbers.   

 IV. BLM’s Management of the PMWHR and its Holding in Captivity 
      of Over 30,000 Wild Horses it Has Removed from the Western States 
 
46. Since BLM has historically been concerned about maintaining the genetic 

diversity of the herd, and not risking this loss, BLM has allowed the PMWHR wild horse 

population to remain above the AML set in 1984 and 1992, even before the issue of 

genetic diversity in this population had the benefit of expert attention and study. See 

Draft EA at 28 (“However, the wild horse population over the last decade has been on 

average 60 horses over the established AML.”) 

47. In an effort to enforce the AMLs for wild horses set in often decades-old land  

use plans, BLM has, since at least 2004, began massive removals of wild horses from the 

ten Western states which they inhabit.  BLM now holds over 30,000 wild horses in short 

term and long term holding facilities. BLM’s problems in caring for the 30,000 plus wild 
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horses it has removed from range are well known and have been reported on extensively 

in the media.  Despite this glut of wild horses that have been displaced and brought into 

captivity, BLM continues to remove wild horses from the range at what can objectively 

be referred to as an alarming rate. BLM plans to add the ____ wild horses removed from 

the PMWHR to this number of wild horses in holding if they are not adopted. 

 48.  BLM plans to remove older wild horses from the PMWHR despite knowing 

that there are virtually no adoptive homes for these horses due to the fact that they have 

lived all of their lives on the range and are not likely to be domesticated easily.  These 

older horses are also subject to being sold without limitation due to a 2004 Amendment 

to the Wild Free Roaming Horses and Burros Act. 

 STATUTORY AND REGULATORY  BACKGROUND GIVING RISE TO 

PLAINTIFFS’ CAUSES OF ACTION 

 
 
  I.  The Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act 
 
 49.  Through the 1971 Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act (WFHBA), 

16 U.S.C. §§ 1331 et seq., Congress found and declared that, “wild free-roaming horses 

and burros are living symbols of the historic and pioneer spirit of the West; that they 

contribute to the diversity of life forms within the Nation and enrich the lives of the 

American people; and that these horses and burros are fast disappearing from the 

American scene.”  Upon finding this, Congress stated that its policy was that  

 “wild free-roaming horses and burros shall be protected from capture, branding, 

harassment, or death, and to accomplish this they are to be considered in the area where 
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presently found as an integral part of the natural system of public lands,” 16 U.S.C. § 

1331. 

 50.  BLM and the FS have exclusive authority under the WFHBA for the 

protection of wild horses and burros on the public lands administered by those agencies,  

16 U.S.C. § 1331(a).  The WFHBA requires that BLM’s and FS’s management activities 

be at “the minimal feasible level,” Id. According to BLM’s own regulations, BLM must 

protect wild horses and burros from unauthorized capture, branding, harassment or death 

and provide these animals with humane care and treatment,” 43 C.F.R.§ 4700.0-2.  The 

Forest Service is under a similar duty pursuant to its regulations. 

 51.  Under the WFHBA, wild horses are “to be considered in the area” where they 

were found in 1971 “as an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 

U.S.C. § 1331.  These legally protected areas are known as “herd areas,”  (HAs) and are 

defined as “the geographic area identified as having been used by a herd as its habitat in 

1971,” 43 C.F.R. § 4710.3-1. 

 52.  Under the WFHBA, “range,” means “the amount of land necessary to sustain 

an existing herd or herds of wild free-roaming horses and burros, which does not exceed 

their known territorial limits, and which is devoted principally but not necessarily 

exclusively to their welfare in keeping with the multiple-use management concept for the 

public lands,” 16 U.S.C. §1332 (c). 

 53.  The Act requires the Secretary to “protect and manage wild free-roaming 

horses and burros as components of the public lands. . .The Secretary shall manage wild 

free-roaming horses and burros in a manner that is designed to achieve and maintain a 

thriving, natural ecological balance on the public lands,”  16 U.S.C. §1333(a). The Act 



 16 

provides that, “The Secretary shall maintain a current inventory of wild free-roaming 

horses and burros on given areas of the public lands.  The purpose of such inventory shall 

be to: make determinations as to whether and where an overpopulation exists and 

whether action should be taken to remove excess animals, determine appropriate 

management levels and determine whether appropriate management levels should be 

achieved by the removal or destruction of excess animals, or other options (such as 

sterilization, or natural controls on population levels), 16 U.S.C. § 1333 (b)(1). The Act 

also provides that, “Where the Secretary determines. . . that an overpopulation exists on a 

given area of the public lands and that action is necessary to remove excess animals, he 

shall immediately remove excess animals from the range so as to achieve appropriate 

management levels,” 16 U.S.C. §1333(b)(2). 

 54.  In the 1971 WHBA, “Congress finds and declares that wild free-roaming 

horses and burros are living symbols of the historic and pioneer spirit of the West; that 

they contribute to the diversity of life forms within the Nation and enrich the lives of the 

American people…” 16 U.S.C. § 1331. 

 55.  In the Senate Committee report accompanying the bill that became law the 

Senate noted, “The committee wishes to emphasize that the management of the wild free-

roaming horses and burros be kept to a minimum both from the aspect of reducing costs 

of such a program as well as to deter the possibility of “zoolike” developments.  An 

intensive management program of breeding, branding, and physical care would destroy 

the very concept that this legislation seeks to preserve….leaving the animals alone to 

fend for themselves and placing primary emphasis on protecting the animals from 

continued slaughter and harassment by man.”  
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56. In 2004, via an amendment inserted without debate by then Montana Senator 

Conrad Burns into a massive Budget Appropriation bill, the WFHBA was amended to 

provide that wild horses taken off the range that are over 10 years of age or who were not 

selected for adoption after three offers could be sold without reservation.  Some horses 

meeting this description have been purchased from BLM by individuals who sold them 

for slaughter.   

 

   II. National Environmental Policy Act 

 57.  Under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 

et seq., any major federal actions that significantly affects the quality of the human 

environment requires the preparation of an environmental impact statement. (EIS), NEPA 

§102(2)(C).  The language and spirit of NEPA is aimed at ensuring that an agency’s 

single-minded approach to a proposed action is tempered by consideration of a 

reasonable range of alternatives, including those with fewer adverse environmental 

impacts than the proposed action. 

 58.  Agencies may decide instead of preparing an EIS, to prepare an 

environmental analysis (EA) first.  An EA serves three purposes: it assists in agency 

decision-making on whether to prepare an EIS or Finding of No Significant Impact 

(FONSI); it independently ensures compliance with NEPA even when no EIS is required; 

and it facilitates the preparation of an EIS if one is required.  40 C.F.R. § 1508.9(a). 

 59.   NEPA requires BLM to analyze in an EA alternatives which involve 

unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources even when an EIS 

is not required.  NEPA §102(2)(C)(iii).  
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 60.  Although an EA is a “concise, public document,” it must include a discussion 

of the need for the proposal, alternatives, environmental impacts of the proposed action 

and the alternatives and a listing of the persons and agencies consulted.  40 C.F.R. §§ 

1508.9(a), 1508.9(b). 

 61.  An EA’s FONSI is only considered adequate if the agency took a “hard look” 

at the problem, the agency identified the relevant areas of environmental concern, the 

agency made a convincing case that the environmental impacts were insignificant as to 

the problems studied and identified; and if there were significant impacts, the agency 

convincingly established changes that reduced the impacts to a minimum. 

 62.  The Council on Environmental Quality (“CEQ”), the agency responsible for 

implementing NEPA, and BLM’s regulations under NEPA, requires that BLM analyze 

the direct, indirect and cumulative impacts on the environment under the proposed action 

and each alternative to determine if the impacts are significant.  BLM’s regulations 

require that this analysis be based on the best available information and should be 

objective, i.e. should not reflect subjective value judgments. 

 63.  An EA may contain mitigation measures to avoid significant impacts that 

would otherwise require the preparation of an EIS.  BLM regulations require that an EA 

must identify and analyze mitigation measures which may be taken to avoid or reduce 

environmental harm. 

 64.  An EA serves an important statutory purpose beyond being an initial step 

toward the preparation of an EIS or a FONSI.  Independent of this requirement, an EA 

must discuss, in adequate detail, a reasonable range of alternatives. 
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 65.  An agency must take a “hard look” at the alternatives and the environmental 

impacts of each.  An agency must consider a full range of alternatives that cover a full 

spectrum of possibilities and demonstrate reasoned decision-making.  It must also give a 

reasoned explanation for rejecting each alternative. 

 66. BLM regulations also require that a No-Action alternative be analyzed at the 

same level of detail as the proposed action.  

  CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
  
         COUNT ONE 
(Violations of NEPA, NEPA Regulations and the APA)        

 
 67.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference here the allegations of the preceeding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

 68.  BLM failed to prepare an EIS for its proposed actions since they constitute 

major federal action that will significantly affect the quality of the human environment. 

 69.  BLM’s EA failed to provide sufficient information to decision-makers and 

the public, in violation of NEPA. 

 70.  BLM’s EA and ROD failed to take a hard look at the environmental 

consequences of its actions. 

 71. BLM’S EA and ROD did not properly analyze nor address alternatives to 

removing wild horses from the range. 

 72. BLM’s EA and ROD did not properly disclose, address and meaningfully 

respond to contrary scientific opinion and evidence that it had itself gathered and that was 

presented to it by outside researchers, including but not limited to: evidence 

demonstrating that the 2004 NRCS study, upon which the agency relied for its 

determination that  in 2009 the range was in a deteriorating condition, was conducted 
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during 2002 and 2003, the worst two years of a 100 year drought, that increased 

precipitation since 2006 had ended the drought and had greatly improved vegetation on 

the range, that removing such numbers of wild horses to leave a population of 95 threated 

the genetic viability of the herd and other scientific studies which contravene and do not 

support the selected alternative. 

 73. In sum, Defendant BLM’s EA and ROD are major federal actions approved 

contrary to NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §4332(2)(C), and its implementing regulations.  BLM failed 

to take the requisite hard look at the foreseeable consequences of their actions.  BLM 

failures to comply fully with NEPA and its regulations were arbitrary, capricious, and an 

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, and without observance of 

procedure required by law, thereby subject to reversal under the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq. (APA). 

 

              COUNT TWO 
(Violations of the WFHBA, WFHBA Regulations and APA) 
   

 

 74.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference here the allegations of the preceeding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

 75.  BLM has failed to protect the PMWHR herd from harassment, capture and 

death and it has failed to devote the range principally but not necessarily exclusively to 

the welfare of the horses as mandated by the Act. 

 76.  BLM’s planned actions violate the mandate of the Act that management 

actions shall be at the minimal feasible level, by failing to undertake and coordinate range 

improvement that would promote the welfare of the horses and alleviate BLM’s 
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conclusory assertions that the range is in deteriorating condition, necessitating the 

removal of wild horses. 

77.  BLM’s reliance on a 2004 NRCS study, conducted during 2002 and 2003, the 

worst two years of a 100 year drought, for its determination in 2009, after three years of 

above average precipitation,  is arbitrary and capricious. 

 78.  BLM’s stated intention to remove wild horses from the PMWHR in such 

numbers that it leaves a population size that is insufficient to ensure genetic diversity 

violates implementing regulations for the WFHBA that “wild horses and burros shall be 

managed as self-sustaining populations of healthy animals in balance with other uses and 

the productive capacity of their habitat,”  43 C.F.R. §4700.06.  Furthermore, doing so 

would destroy the uniqueness of this herd and their special adaptation that has built up 

over many generations. 

           79. BLM’s actions threaten genetic diversity and survival of the PMWHR herd.  

 80.  BLM improperly relies in 2009 on an “appropriate management level” of the 

wild horse population, which was set in 1992, in the absence of any data on the 

population number necessary to ensure wild horse herd survival.  

 81.  In sum, Defendant BLM’s actions are arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of 

discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, and without observance of procedure 

required by law,  and are thereby subject to reversal under the Administrative Procedure 

Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq. (APA). 
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COUNT THREE 

                                           (Violation of NEPA and the APA) 

 

 82. BLM’s use of a Categorical Exclusion (CE) to obviate it from addressing the 

environmental effects of its processing, disposition and other activities with respect to the 

Pryor wild horses it removes from the range is arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of 

discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, and without observance of procedure 

required by law,  and are thereby subject to reversal under the Administrative Procedure 

Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq. (APA). 

  

    PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 

 WHEREFORE,  plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in 

favor of plaintiffs and grant the following relief: 

A.  Issue a declaratory judgment that: 

 1. Defendant BLM’s EA and associated Record of Decision violate the National 

Environmental Policy Act, its implementing regulations, and the APA; 

 2.  Defendant BLM’s EA and associated Record of Decision and the actions 

planned therein violate the Wild Free Roaming Horses and Burros Act, and its 

implementing regulations, and are arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law, and without observance of procedure required by 

law, contrary to the APA, 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A)-(F). 
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 3.  Defendant BLM’s use of a Categorical Exclusion (CE) to obviate it from 

addressing the environmental effects of its processing, disposition and other activities 

with respect to the Pryor wild horses after it removes from the range is arbitrary, 

capricious, and an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, and 

without observance of procedure required by law, and are thereby subject to reversal 

under the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq.  

 

B.  Pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A), set aside and vacate BLM’s EA and 

Record of Decision and enjoin any implementation of actions approved pursuant to the 

Record of Decision. 

C. Require BLM to rescind its Categorical Exclusion for its processing, disposition and 

other activities with respect to the Pryor wild horses after it removes from the range 

D.  Award plantiffs their costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney, expert 

witness and consultant fees); and 
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E.  Award plantiffs such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

 

DATED: August 28, 2009    Respectfully submitted, 

 

            
       _________________________ 
       Valerie J. Stanley, Esquire 
                                                                                    D.C. Bar No. 384882 

329 Prince George Street 
Laurel, MD 20707 
(301) 549-3126 

 
Of Counsel: 

Mara C. Hurwitt, Esquire 
D.C. Bar No. 482409  
6248 Windham Hill Run  
Alexandria, VA 22315  
Phone: (703) 922-9226 
 

 

 

                 

 

 

 

 

     VERIFICATION 
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 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, I swear that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 

          _____________________ 
           Ginger Kathrens 
 
Executed this _____ day of July, 2006 
        

 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                            

 


